FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/22/2022 3:23 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100845-7

No. 82649-2-I

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

### TSIGEREDA TEKLU

Respondent,

V.

### DJAMSHID SETAYESH,

Petitioner.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ryan M. Yoke, WSBA #46500 Email: ryan@vjbk.com VANDER WEL, JACOBSON & YOKE, PLLC 1540 140<sup>th</sup> Avenue NE, Suite 200 Bellevue, WA 98005

Tel: (425)462-7070 Fax: (425)646-3467 Attorney for Appellant

###

### I. Identity of Petitioner

Petitioner Djamshid Setayesh was the Defendant in the Superior Court and Appellant before the Court of Appeals.

### II. Court of Appeals Decision

Setayesh seeks review of the published Court of Appeals opinion affirming the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Respondent Tsigereda Teklu and denial of summary judgment in favor of Setayesh. *Teklu v. Setayesh*, No. 82649-2-I (2022). The Court of Appeals opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals order denying Setayesh's motion for reconsideration is attached hereto as Appendix B.

### **III. Issues Presented for Review**

- A. Is an assessor's tax parcel number a sufficient substitute for a legal description to satisfy the statute of frauds?
- B. Can improvements to real property which were made in violation of a contract between parties constitute

partial performance of that contract to remove it from the statute of frauds?

### IV. Statement of the Case

Plaintiff/Respondent Tsigereda Teklu and Defendant/Appellant Djamshid Setayesh signed a lease agreement, purchase and sale agreement, and option to purchase agreement on 10/7/2015. The agreements refer to an "Exhibit A" purportedly containing a legal description but none of the documents contains an "Exhibit A." The purchase and sale agreement includes a tax parcel number.

Teklu attempted to exercise the option but Setayesh refused to sell, asserting that the agreements were void for violation of the statute of frauds. Teklu filed suit in Snohomish County Superior Court.

The legal description publicly available on the Snohomish County Assessor's website is erroneous and contains a series of abbreviations and numbers whose meaning remain unknown. Slip Op. at 9.

The Snohomish County Auditor maintains records of recorded documents that contain the legal description of the property in dispute. But, the agreements between the parties do not contain a reference to any of these documents.

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Teklu on the basis that the tax parcel number constituted a reference to public documents on file with Snohomish County Auditor which contained a legal description.

The Court of Appeals opinion affirms the trial court holding that:

because the purchase and sale agreement that Djamshid Setayesh entered into with Tsigereda Teklu contained the tax parcel number and the county in which the property was located, the agreement referred a person of ordinary intelligence to the property account summary containing the "sales history table" on file in the Snohomish County assessor's office, which in turn referred such a person to the complete legal description in the six most recent deeds to the property on record with the Snohomish County auditor. Here, the inclusion of the tax parcel number coupled with the county in which the property was located satisfied the legal description requirement of the statute of frauds.

Slip Op. at 2.

This holding, however, rests upon an untrue statement of fact. The "sales history table" on file with the Assessor does not refer a person of ordinary intelligence to any specific records on file with the Auditor.

The columns in the sales history table include the sale date, recording date, recording number, grantor, and grantee. CP 100. However, the recording numbers for every single deed is blank. *Id.*; CP 41 ¶¶ 5-9.

The Court of Appeals opinion relies upon a false assertion made in the declaration of Teklu's attorney that the deeds containing legal descriptions "incorporate[] by reference the officially recorded documents." Slip Op. 2, 9, CP 100.

Neither the agreements between the parties nor the documents maintained by the Assessor contain a reference to documents maintained by the Auditor.

Teklu's alternate theory was that, even if the agreements between the parties were unenforceable under the statute of frauds that the agreements were still enforceable under the doctrine of part performance. Teklu relied upon her occupation of the property, payment of rent, and a minor remodel project to widen a hallway and modify two bathrooms.

Setayesh argued that Teklu had not proven part performance because: (1) Teklu did not exclusively occupy the property because he had lived there for six months of the five year tenancy; (2) Teklu did not tender the purchase price or late fees because she paid rent late every month for the duration of the tenancy; and (3) the lease agreement expressly forbid Teklu to make any improvements and so any improvements she made constituted breaches, not part performance of the agreement.

Neither the Superior Court nor the Court of Appeals reached this issue because they found the parcel number satisfied the statute of frauds.

### V. Argument

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or... (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b).

A. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with the Supreme Court's opinions in Martin v. Seigel which requires contracts for the sale of land to include legal descriptions and impermissibly extends the limited exception to that rule found in Bingham v. Sherfey.

Washington's statute of frauds requires contracts for the sale of land to "contain a description of the land sufficiently definite to locate it without recourse to oral testimony." *Key Design Inc. v. Moser*, 138 Wn.2d 875, 881, 983 P.2d 653

(1999) (citing *Martinson v. Cruikshank*, 3 Wn.2d 565, 567, 101 P.2d 604 (1940)).

Failure to include a legal description in a contract for the sale of real property renders the contract void and unenforceable under the statute of frauds. *Losh Family, LLC v. Kertsman*, 155 Wn. App. 458, 464, 228 P.3d 793, 796–97 (2010).

In the landmark opinion of *Martin v. Seigel*, 35 Wn.2d 223, 212 P.2d 107 (1949), the parties' contract identified the property at issue by street address. The contract did not contain a legal description. The Supreme Court held that the contract was unenforceable under the statute of frauds reasoning: "We feel that it is fair and just to require people dealing with real estate to properly and adequately describe it, so that courts may not be compelled to resort to extrinsic evidence in order to find out what was in the minds of the contracting parties." *Id.* at 228.

The fact that the parties obtained a title policy that contained a legal description did not persuade this Court. The

contract was "not a sufficient memorandum to satisfy the Statute of Frauds, nor does it incorporate by reference any other instrument, either Exhibit 1 [i.e. the title policy] or otherwise, that does contain an adequate legal description to satisfy the Statute of Frauds; that parol evidence would have to be resorted to, to connect the real estate described in the plaintiff's complaint with that described in Exhibit 1 and Exhibit 3 [i.e. the agreement], and that therefore the Exhibit 3 is void and not enforceable." *Id.* at 225.

The Court of Appeals in this case ignored the prohibition against resorting to extrinsic evidence and characterized the Supreme Court's opinion in *Bingham v. Sherfey*<sup>1</sup> as a "recognized exception" authorizing substitution a tax parcel number for a legal description in all cases. Slip Op. at 1, 8.

But *Bingham* articulates no such exception. Instead, *Bingham* merely authorized contracting parties to do what they have always been able to do: include a legal description through

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 38 Wn.2d 886, 234 P.2d 489 (1951)

incorporation by reference. 38 Wn.2d at 889. "We have held that, in order to comply with the statute of frauds, a contract or deed for the conveyance of land must contain a description of the land sufficiently definite to locate it without recourse to oral testimony, or else must contain a reference to another instrument which does include a sufficient description." *Id.* (Collecting cases.) The *Bingham* court then proclaimed "This is consistent with the rule announced in *Martin v. Seigel.*" *Id.* 

The contract in *Bingham* set forth the legal description as "Tax No. 3, in Section Thirty-one, in Township Twelve, North, of Range Forty-two [E.W.M. being furnished by judicial notice], as a present designated on the tax rolls in the office of the County Assessor of said county." *Id*.

The *Bingham* description is clearly an incorporation by reference of the metes and bounds legal description which the county assessor is required by statute to maintain in the tax rolls. That is, a reference to a specific document.

This case presents a different fact pattern. The agreement here attempted to incorporate by reference an "Exhibit A" but the agreement contained no such exhibit. It is an incorporation by reference of a document which does not actually exist. The courts below have relied upon the inclusion of the tax parcel number in another part of the agreement in the absence of any evidence of an intent to incorporate any other document by reference.

Even assuming the courts below did not err in following the tax parcel number to the Assessor's records, though, those records contain an erroneous legal description: "SEC 17 TWP 27 RGE 04RT-1B-1) N 130FT OF E 190FT OF NW 1/4 NE 1/4 LESS RDS." Slip Op. at 9. The Court of Appeals recognizes that this is not consistent with the actual legal description of the property. *Id.* at 10-11.

But based upon the Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation of *Bingham*, it proceeded to conclude, in reliance on inadmissible extrinsic evidence, that "the discrepancy in the

abbreviated legal description contained in the property account summary must be considered in the context of the sales history table included in the assessor's property account summary. And in turn, the sales history table refers a person of ordinary intelligence to the complete legal description in the deeds associated with that sales history on file with the county auditor." Slip Op. at 11. This is a mistaken conclusion of fact because the sales history table does not contain recording numbers and therefore cannot constitute a reference to those records.

The Court of Appeals then rejected Setayesh's argument that *Martin* forbids resorting to the extrinsic evidence of Teklu's attorney's declaration setting forth his search on various county websites to furnish a legal description. It concluded "the distinction the court made in <u>Martin</u> is not applicable here because, consistent with <u>Bingham</u>, the reference in the purchase and sale agreement to the tax parcel number refers a person of ordinary intelligence to the assessor's records

noted in the property tax summary and in turn to the auditor's documents containing a complete legal description. Such a reference to the tax parcel number does not implicate parol evidence as the court contemplated in Martin." Slip Op. at 11-12.

The Supreme Court should accept review to clarify the interplay between *Martin* and *Bingham*. *Martin* sets forth a bright line rule: contracts and deeds for the conveyance of real property must include a legal description to comply with the statute of frauds. *Bingham* authorizes parties to incorporate a legal description by reference to a county's tax records.

Bingham does not stand for the proposition that a tax parcel number by itself constitutes a valid substitute for a valid legal description in all cases. This is particularly so where, as in this case, the tax records contain an erroneous legal description and contain no specific reference to other records containing a correct legal description. One Court of Appeals decision has expressly rejected that argument where a plaintiff presented no

evidence that the county assessor had fulfilled the duty to maintain an accurate legal description. *Asotin County. Port Dist. v. Clarkston Community Corp.*, 2 Wn. App. 1007, 472 P.2d 554 (1970).

In this case, nothing resolves the latent ambiguity between the legal description contained in the assessor's records and those in the auditor's records. This sort of problem is precisely why this Court created the clear rule in *Martin*. If parties cannot be bothered to accurately describe the real property in their contract, it is not the role of the court to perform an exhaustive search of public records to furnish a description for them.

The Court of Appeals' decision is particularly troubling in this case because it effectively overrules the clear rule set forth in *Martin* sub silentio. As argued by Setayesh before the trial court and the Court of Appeals, the county auditor's records can be found just as easily by searching for the street address as a tax parcel number. This creates an arbitrary

distinction where a contract containing a street address is invalid but a contract containing a parcel number is valid even though both pieces of information would supposedly lead a person of ordinary intelligence to the same public records.

Only the Supreme Court can overrule *Martin*. It declined to do so more than 20 years ago in *Key Design Inc. v. Moser*, 138 Wn.2d 875, 882-84, 983 P.2d 653 (1999). The Supreme Court should accept review of this case to clarify the continuing authority of *Martin* and reject the expansion of *Bingham* beyond its limited and unique circumstances.

The issues in this case are also of supreme public importance. The purchase of a home is the most significant financial transaction that many people make in their lives. The people of Washington are entitled to know the minimum requirements to make the contracts facilitating such major transactions legally enforceable.

B. If the Supreme Court accepts review, it should also address the issue of part performance.

The trial court and Court of Appeals did not address the issue of part performance in this case because they resolved the case on the statute of frauds issue.

If the Court grants to review of this case, it should resolve the issue of part performance in Setayesh's favor.

To remove a contract from the statute of frauds, the proponent of the contract must prove:

(1) delivery and assumption of actual and exclusive possession; (2) payment or tender of consideration; and (3) the making of permanent, substantial and valuable improvements, referable to the contract.

Berg v. Ting, 125 Wn.2d 544, 556, 886 P.2d 564 (1995) (emphasis added). Part performance must be proved "by evidence that is clear and unequivocal and which leaves no doubt as to the terms, character, and existence of the contract." Powers v. Hastings, 93 Wn.2d 709, 713, 612 P.2d 371 (1980).

The case law does not require proof of all three elements. Payment of the purchase price is generally considered the least persuasive factor while improvements have been held to be the "strongest and most unequivocal." *Powers*, 93 Wn.2d at 722. "Generally, the cases require some conduct by the tenant or landlord beyond possession and payment." *Ben Holt Indus.*, *Inc. v. Milne*, 36 Wn. App. 468, 474, 675 P.2d 1256 (1985).

No case that Setayesh or Teklu could find appears to address the primary question in this case: whether tenant improvements under an alleged option to purchase can constitute part performance where the agreements expressly forbid the tenant from making improvements.

Setayesh argued below that such conduct which clearly violates the terms of the agreements between the parties cannot simultaneously constitute part performance of those agreements. But no case addresses the question head on—presumably because a breach of a contract by definition cannot be part performance of that contract.

Teklu relied upon authority stating that actions taking in pursuance of the contract are inherently "referable to the contract" even if no specific contract term addresses them citing *Borrow v. Borrow*, 34 Wash. 684, 691, 76 P. 305 (1904). That is, the improvements "would not have been done unless with a direct view to the performance of that very agreement." *Friedl v. Benson*, 25 Wn. App. 381, 390, 609 P.2d 449 (1980). Neither case involved a contract that expressly forbid improvements.

Given the lack of authority addressing whether improvements made in violation of a contract prohibiting improvements can constitute part performance of that contract, the Supreme Court should accept review on this issue as well to make clear that breaching a contract is not part performance of that contract.

### VI. Conclusion

The courts below decided this case contrary to long established Supreme Court precedent. The Court should accept

review of this case to confirm the continuing vitality of the rule in *Martin* that contracts for the sale of land require legal descriptions. The Court should also clarify the limited exception in *Bingham* which caused the Court of Appeals to incorrectly hold that tax parcel numbers automatically constitute a sufficient substitute for legal descriptions in all cases. Finally, the Court should state definitively that improvements made in violation of a contract cannot constitute part performance of that contract to remove it from the statute of frauds.

I certify that this Motion contains 2,794 words in compliance with RAP 18.17.