FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/23/2022 3:03 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100845-7

(Appeal Ct. No. 82649-2-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TSIGEREDA TEKLU,

Respondent,

v.

DJAMSHID SETAYESH,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ryan J.P. Dyer, WSBA No. 48016 BERESFORD BOOTH PLLC 145 Third Avenue South Edmonds, WA 98020 425-776-4100

> Attorney for Respondent Tsigereda Teklu

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Mr. Setayesh invokes three separate grounds for review. *See* Pet'r's Br. at 8 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4)). As explained below, however, the Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with prior decisions of both this Court and the Court of Appeals, and no "issue of substantial public interest" is at play. Accordingly, Ms. Teklu respectfully requests this Court decline review.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Interpreted and Applied the Exception to the Statute of Frauds Set Forth in *Bingham* and Related Cases

Under Washington law, a conveyance of land with no legal description complies with the statute of frauds,

provided the writing "contain[s] a description sufficient to locate the land without recourse to oral testimony or contain[s] a reference to another instrument that does contain a sufficient description." Walsh, 146 Wn. App. at 237 (citing Ecolite Mfg. Co. v. R.A. Hanson Co., 43 Wn. App. 267, 270, 716 P.2d 937 (1986)); see also Moser, 138 Wn.2d at 881. This holding has been black-letter law in Washington since the dawn of statehood. See Martinson v. Cruikshank, 3 Wn.2d 565, 567, 101 P.2d 604 (1940) (citing Rochester v. Yesler's Estate, 6 Wash. 114, 32 P. 1057 (1893)).

In application, reference to a property's APN and county of situs has long been held a "sufficiently definite" description to identify the land in compliance with the statute of fraud. *See, e.g., Bingham*, 38 Wn.2d at 889 (reference to APN and county furnished the legal description with sufficient definiteness and certainty to satisfy the statute of frauds); *Turpen v. Johnson*, 26

Wn.2d 716, 719, 175 P.2d 495 (1946) ("Carried as Assessor's Tax Lot No. 22 of Niels Hendrichsen D.L.C." was deemed as a sufficient legal description for purposes of a tax foreclosure); *City of Centralia v. Miller*, 31 Wn.2d 417, 427, 197 P.2d 244 (1948) (property sufficiently described when tax lot numbers and general locality of realty was given); *Matter of Estate of Hall*, No. 35793-7-III, 2019 WL 1125678 at *3 (Mar. 12, 2019) (Reference to tax parcel number and to a separate lien with a legal description held sufficient).

The Court of Appeals' decision properly interpreted and employed the dispositive holding from *Bingham*. *See* Slip Op. at 6-8. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' astutely recognized the numerous other cases and treatises that expound on and confirm the holding from *Bingham*. *See id.* at 8 (citing 18 WILLIAM B. STOEBUCK & JOHN W. WEAVER, WASH. PRACTICE, REAL ESTATE: PROPERTY LAW § 13.3, at 83 (2004)).

In short, the exception articulated in *Bingham* is firmly rooted in over 115 years of precedent. The legal rationale undergirding this exception is equally rooted in precedent:

It is a well-established principle of law that a description in a deed or other instrument affecting title to real estate is sufficient if it affords an intelligent means for identifying the property and does not mislead. In other words, if a person of ordinary intelligence and understanding can successfully use the description in an attempt to locate and identify the particular property sought to be conveyed, the description answers its purpose and must be held sufficient. . . . The first requisite of an adequate description is that the land shall be identified with reasonable certainty, but the degree of certainty required is always qualified by the application of the rule that that is certain which can be made certain. A deed will not be declared void for uncertainty if it is possible by any reasonable rules of construction, to ascertain from the description, aided by extrinsic evidence, what property it was intended to convey.

Ontario Land Co. v. Yordy, 44 Wash. 239, 243, 87 P. 257 (1906) (emphasis added, internal citation omitted).

Here, Mr. Setayesh argues that the exception from Bingham only applies if the written agreement contains a reference to a specific document. Pet'r's Br. at 11. But, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the holding from Bingham is not so limited. See Slip Op. at 9-10. Specifically, Bingham does not require reference to a specific recorded document or line-item on "the tax rolls." Id. at 10. Rather, Bingham and its progeny merely require reference to a property's APN and county of situs, which provides "a person of ordinary intelligence understanding" the means to unequivocally identify the full legal description from the given County's public records. See id.

Mr. Setayesh's proffered reading of *Bingham* is contradicted by the very facts of that case, the numerous cases and treatises to recognize the exception, and the longstanding rationale underlying the holding itself. The Court of Appeals was right to reject Mr. Setayesh's efforts

to invent new law enabling him to backout of the Agreement he made with Ms. Teklu.

C. The Superior Court Properly Considered the Recorded Public Documents on File with Snohomish County

As outlined above, the Agreement identifies the Property by its APN and county of situs, which furnishes the necessary information to identify the Property "with sufficient definiteness and certainty to meet the requirements of the statute of frauds." See Bingham, 38 Wn.2d at 889. Put another way, without the need for oral testimony, "a person of ordinary intelligence and understanding can successfully use the description [i.e., the APN and county of situs] in an attempt to locate and identify the particular property sought to be conveyed." See Yordy, 44 Wash. at 243. The process for obtaining (i.e., "furnishing") the corresponding public records from the County is established, step-by-step, in Ms. Teklu's underlying summary judgment motion. See Slip Op. at

11; CP 99-123, 160-62.

Mr. Setayesh attempts to obstruct consideration of these publicly recorded documents on two bases. First, Mr. Setayesh argues that judicial recognition of the publicly recorded documents is wholesale improper because they comprise extrinsic evidence. Pet'r's Br. at 10. Second, Mr. Setayesh attempts to sow ambiguity concerning the contents of the recorded documents by citing meaningless, non-official information displayed on the County's website. *See id.* at 12-13. As explained below, and as the Court of Appeals properly determined, neither point is valid.

Regarding extrinsic evidence, the very same case law cited by Mr. Setayesh contradicts his argument: "In a long line of decisions, we have held that, in order to comply with the statute of frauds, a contract or deed for the conveyance of land must contain a description of the land sufficiently definite to locate it *without recourse to*

oral testimony." Moser, 138 Wn.2d at 881 (emphasis added). Simply put, "oral testimony" does not encapsulate all forms of extrinsic evidence.

But more to the point, if Mr. Setayesh were right, then *Bingham* was void from the outset. In *Bingham*, the court recognized extrinsic evidence in the form of the publicly recorded documents on file with the County. Thus, the consideration of this limited form of extrinsic evidence was inherent to the holding in *Bingham*. Otherwise, it would be impossible for a party "to furnish" a sufficient description of a property to fall within the exception.

In any case, Washington courts may take judicial notice or otherwise judicial incorporate public records—

i.e., recorded public documents. See Berge v. Gorton, 88

Wn.2d 756, 763, 567 P.2d 187 (1977) ("[C]ourt may take judicial notice of matters of public record."); Jackson v.

Quality Loan Serv. Corp., 186 Wn. App. 838, 844 347

P.3d 487 (2015) ("[T]rial court may take judicial notice of public documents if the authenticity of those documents cannot be reasonably disputed."). In short, the various recorded public documents supplied by Ms. Teklu were properly considered by the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals was correct to affirm the same.

Next, Mr. Setayesh attempts to create ambiguity where none, in fact, exists. Specifically, Mr. Setayesh claims that the "abbreviated" legal description displayed on the Snohomish County Assessor's website is erroneous. *See* Pet'r's Br. at 4, 12. But Mr. Setayesh fails to mention that the "abbreviated" legal description merely appears on the Assessor's "Property Account Summary" web page. In short, this is *not* a recorded document. Rather, it is merely a virtual user interface created by the County so the public can easily view summary information for a given property. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the dispositive public documents

are the numerous recorded deeds that each contain a matching APN and full legal description. Slip Op. at 11.

Likewise, Mr. Setayesh's description of the Property's "sales history table" is similarly misplaced. Again, the "sales history table" is not a recorded public document. It is a virtual user interface created by the County to *display* links to the recorded documents themselves. Simply clicking on the chronologically ordered links displays the recorded deeds, which each contain matching APNs and legal descriptions for the Property.

As the Superior Court ruled, and as the Court of Appeals affirmed, the Property's APN and county of situs supply the necessary information for a person of reasonable intelligence and understanding to locate the matching full legal description on file with Snohomish County. Notably, Mr. Setayesh does not directly refute this fact, and his attempts to manufacture red-herring

arguments on this point are not well taken.

D. The Superior Court Properly Denied Summary Judgment on the Issue of Partial Performance

The Superior Court correctly determined that genuine issues of material fact preclude summary judgment on Ms. Teklu's partial performance claim. Mr. Setayesh asks this Court to accept review of this issue in addition to the issue under the statute of frauds. *See* Pet'r's Br. at 17-19. If this Court is inclined to accept review, it should decline to include the issue of partial performance.

Unlike the statute of frauds issue, Ms. Teklu was the non-moving party in this instance and is therefore entitled to have all facts and reasonably inferences therefrom drawn in her favor. *Martin v. Gonzaga Univ.*, 191 Wn.2d 712, 722, 425 P.3d 837 (2018).

The doctrine of partial performance applies in situations where it would be unequitable to allow a seller "to escape performance of his contract after the

purchaser, relying upon the agreement, has done acts which have so altered the relations of the parties as to prevent their restoration to their former positions." *Richardson v. Taylor Land & Livestock Co.*, 25 Wn.2d 518, 527, 171 P.2d 703 (1946). The elements of partial performance are:

- (1) delivery and assumption of actual and exclusive possession;
- (2) payment or tender of consideration; and
- (3) the making of permanent, substantial, and valuable improvement, referable to the contract.

Powers v. Hastings, 93 Wn.2d 709, 717, 612 P.2d 371 (1980). The presence of all three elements denotes the strongest case for partial performance; however, relief is still attainable where only two elements are present. See Richardson, 25 Wn.2d at 529.

Mr. Setayesh argues that Ms. Teklu's many improvements to the property are void because he did not give prior written approval and, therefore, such

improvements are not "referable to the contract." Pet'r's Br. at 18.

Under Washington law, an improvement is "referable to the contract" if it is in pursuance thereof. See Borrow v. Borrow, 34 Wash. 684, 691, 76 P. 305 (1904). For example, in *Borrow*, the tenants not only improved the building in which they were living, but also purchased the lot next door to preserve their view. *Id.* Although neither act was performance of the alleged contract, both were in pursuance of it, and the court held them referable to the oral contract to convey the property. *Id.* at 690. The touchstone is that the improvements must be such as "would not have been done unless with a direct view to the performance of that very agreement." Friedl v. Benson, 25 Wn. App. 381, 390, 609 P.2d 449 (1980) (citation omitted).

Here, the magnitude of the improvements made by

Ms. Teklu—widening two hallways, remodeling four

bathrooms, installing an access ramp, repainting the home, repairing the roof—entitle her to a reasonable inference that she would not have undertaken the same unless she had "a direct view" to performance under the Option. *See Friedl*, 25 Wn. App. at 390. Ms. Teklu declared as much in her affidavits opposing summary judgment. CP 284-85, 320-22. As the trial court properly concluded, issues of fact remain regarding partial performance under the Option and summary judgment is not appropriate.

E. Request for Attorney Fees and Costs in Answering this Petition for Review

As outlined above, the Agreement mandates an award of attorney fees and costs to the prevailing party in any litigation. CP 131. Assuming this Court declines review, Ms. Teklu will have prevailed in this instance as well. Accordingly, Teklu respectfully requests that any order denying review include an award of her reasonable attorney fees and costs in answering Mr. Setayesh's

Petition before this Court, subject to the applicable terms of RAP 18.1

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Teklu respectfully requests this Court DENY Mr. Setayesh's Petition for Review and remand this case for further proceedings.